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§ 1:1 Introduction

When it comes to avoiding prosecution for white collar crime,
businesses must take care and take appropriate steps to avoid a wide
number of infractions, including fraud, computer crimes, securities
and commodities violations, antitrust violations, tax evasion, customs
avoidance, and theft or misuse of intellectual property, just to name a
few. Since 2008, when Siemens agreed to pay a record-setting $800
million fine, businesses operating in foreign countries have become
increasingly concerned with complying with the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA), and other applicable laws prohibiting corrupt
business practices. Given the increasingly global nature of business and
increasing competitive pressures, competing aggressively for new busi-
ness opportunities while simultaneously complying with the FCPA
and other applicable laws has heightened the importance of designing,
implementing, and operating an effective compliance program.

In 2010, Lanny A. Breuer, then Assistant Attorney General for the
Department of Justice’s Criminal Division, cautioned that “[w]e are in
a new era of FCPA enforcement,” and that “[w]e are here to stay.”1

Since 2010, the aggressive approach that the Obama administration
has taken on targeting corporate malfeasance overseas is consistent
with these words of warning.2 Indeed, since 2011 alone, the Depart-
ment of Justice (DOJ) and the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) have investigated an ever growing list of large companies doing
business overseas, including Wal-Mart, Tyco International, Deutsche
Telekom, and Alcoa, among others.

In addition to the significant number of investigations, there has
also been a corresponding increase in the number of significant fines
and enforcement actions aimed at companies for violating the FCPA.
While 2011 and 2012 were down years, both in the number of enforce-
ment actions filed and in the amount of fines levied when compared
to 2008 through 2010, the total dollar amount of fines in 2013 was
three times the 2012 dollar amount, and 2014 brought “blockbuster”
fines against companies for violating the FCPA by bribing foreign
government officials, with particular attention being paid to activities
and conduct in China and other emerging markets.3 Notable penalties

1. Nick Wingfield, U.S. Is Said to Scrutinize Microsoft, N.Y. TIMES, Mar. 20,
2013, http://bits.blogs.nytimes.com/2013/03/20/daily-report-u-s-is-said-
to-scrutinize-microsoft-accusations/.

2. Id.
3. See Toh Han Shih, ‘Blockbuster’ Fines in the Pipeline Over Bribery, SOUTH

CHINA MORNING POST, at 3, Feb. 10, 2014, http://www.scmp.com/business/
companies/article/1424886/firms-face-blockbuster-fines-us-over-bribery-
cases-china.
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included a $772 million fine against Alstom and a $384 million fine
against Alcoa. Given the significant amount of foreign investment
being made in China, it is expected that there will be a large number
of FCPA cases targeting activities in China.4

Prior to 2008, when Siemens paid $800 million in fines for
violations of the FCPA to the U.S. federal government alone, fines
were typically more modest, in the millions and tens of millions of
dollars.5 Since the Siemens investigation, however, there has been a
spike in both the number of large matters investigated and the size of
settlements reached and fines imposed.6 Indeed, from 2008 to 2012
alone, the number of enforcement actions filed by the DOJ and SEC
“more than doubled compared with the previous five-year period.”7

Given the increasing civil and criminal penalties being imposed,
the level of sophistication and application of companies’ compliance
and anti-corruption policies and procedures is becoming increasingly
important to ensure compliance with the FCPA and mitigate the
adverse business effects caused by violations which are not prevented
beforehand. While each company is unique and each company ’s com-
pliance program will necessarily need to be tailored to the realities of
its business, including its size and risks, the dangers of failing to
implement an effective compliance program are great. By contrast,
having such a program in place can prevent violations from occur-
ring and minimize any penalties that are imposed if violations cannot
be prevented.

Having an effective compliance program in place can decrease a
company ’s exposure even for conduct that violates the FCPA. For
example, in January 2014, a joint venture of Alcoa Inc. pled guilty to
criminal charges and agreed to pay a fine of $384 million stemming
from bribery allegations made by an aluminum maker in Bahrain as
a result of joint investigations by the DOJ and the SEC.8 While the
Federal Sentencing Guidelines dictated that a fine in the range of

4. Id.
5. Toh Han Shih, US Intensifies Enforcement of Anti-Graft Law; Washington

Is Claiming an Increasing Number of Scalps Under FCPA in Stepped-Up
Global Effort, SOUTH CHINA MORNING POST, Aug. 20, 2013, at 3.

6. Id.
7. Rasul Bailey & Maulik Vyas, Strict Anti-Bribery Laws in US, UK Making

Foreign Companies Less Competitive in India, ECON. TIMES, June 29,
2013, http://articles.economictimes.indiatimes.com/2013-06-28/news/
40255937_1_bribery-act-transparency-international-india-anupama-jha/2.

8. See John D. Oravecz, Affiliate of Alcoa to Pay $384M Fine, PITTSBURGH
TRIB. REV., Jan. 9, 2014, http://triblive.com/business/headlines/5387237-74/
alcoa-million-alba#axzz3Gz7q82Ua.
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$446 million to $892 million was warranted, significantly lower fines
were imposed because of Alcoa’s cooperation with the government’s
investigation, its financial condition, and its appointment of a special
committee to investigate the allegations of misconduct.9 Other sig-
nificant factors resulting in the reduced fine were changes imple-
mented by Alcoa to its existing compliance program (including the
retention of legal and ethics and compliance officers), the implemen-
tation of new policies and procedures for third-party due diligence, and
Alcoa’s revamped anti-corruption and compliance procedures.10

Overall, companies should be aware that in doling out punish-
ments, the federal government has taken the position that self-
reporting and cooperation with ongoing investigations is critical. For
its part, the SEC has acknowledged that it will “confer substantial and
tangible benefits” on companies that cooperate.11 In February 2014,
at the SEC’s annual SEC Speaks conference in Washington, D.C., Kara
Brockmeyer, the Chief of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Unit “empha-
sized the importance of companies investing the proper “thought and
analysis” into their FCPA compliance programs and internal con-
trols,” and advised that in 2014, the SEC had already brought the
same number of enforcement actions as were brought during all of
2013.12 Ms. Brockmeyer also noted that the most common FCPA
cases brought by the SEC in 2013 and 2014 involved improper
payments for the travel and entertainment of foreign government
officials13 and issues related to third-party agents and intermediaries.
Based on the actions being taken by the government, it is becoming
increasingly clear that third-party due diligence is becoming more
and more critical to assure FCPA compliance.14 While the risks facing
companies conducting business globally are high, in November
2012, the federal government issued an in-depth Resource Guide to
the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA Guide”) intended
to assist companies in navigating the FCPA.15 While the FCPA Guide

9. Id.
10. Id.
11. Peter Lattman, Ralph Lauren Corp. Agrees to Pay Fine in Bribery Case,

N.Y. TIMES, Apr. 23, 2013, at B2.
12. Aaron Tidman, The SEC Speaks About FCPA; Securities and Exchange

Commission; Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, MONDAQ BUSINESS BRIEFING,
Feb. 26, 2014, http://www.mondaq.com/unitedstates/x/295596/Corporate+
Governance/The+SEC+Speaks+About+FCPA.

13. Id.
14. Id.
15. U.S. Department of Justice and U.S. Securities and Exchange Commis-

sion, A Resource Guide to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, http://
www.justice.gov/criminal/fraud/fcpa/guidance/guide.pdf.
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is a useful starting point, given the current business and enforcement
environment, companies will need to give considerable thought to
designing, implementing, and operating their compliance programs
on a global basis.

The purpose of this chapter is to provide the framework for an
effective compliance program for companies conducting business
beyond American borders in light of the issuance of the FCPA Guide.
While the FCPA Guide is merely a starting point for companies trying
to navigate these murky waters, it gives invaluable insight into the
federal government’s enforcement objectives, and structuring poli-
cies and procedures that will both prevent violations from occurring
and limit the extent of penalties in the event that violations are not
prevented.

§ 1:2 Elements of an Effective Anticorruption Compliance
Program

Constructing an effective program to comply with anticorruption
statutes such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and
U.K. Bribery Act requires a significant and sustained commitment of
time, energy and resources. This is because effective prevention is the
sum of many parts, each of which is essential.

First, companies must undertake to understand the enforcement
environment that they face, as well as to assess and prioritize the risks
involved in the various jurisdictions in which they—or their agents—
are engaged in business. These risks will necessarily vary based on the
nature of the business involved. Second, companies must develop
internal compliance policies and procedures sufficient to avoid, detect
and remedy wrongdoing by the company as well as its agents. Third,
companies must develop a culture of compliance among their employ-
ees, promote among their managers understanding and dedication to
internal anticorruption policies, and provide regularized and updated
education and training. This culture should incentivize compliance
while encouraging employees to report suspected violations of com-
pany policy and the law. Finally, companies must have in place poli-
cies and procedures to monitor compliance with anticorruption
efforts, and also to investigate alleged or suspected violations and to
discipline employees when necessary.

None of these elements can stand alone. All are necessary for a
company to comply with anticorruption laws and to avoid the enor-
mous costs and risks that come from noncompliance. Each of these
elements is explored in the sections that follow.
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§ 1:2.1 The Enforcement Environment and Risk
Assessment

To effectively comply with anticorruption statutes, companies
must first become aware of the enforcement environment and risks
particular to their overseas activities. Prohibitions on conduct as well
as affirmative directives to businesses vary from country to country,
and effective compliance begins with understanding national and
local laws, as well as the risks faced in each country or that are
attendant to certain industries. The activities of agents and third
parties present significant risks that must also be considered.

In addition to understanding particularized laws and risks applica-
ble to each jurisdiction in which they operate, companies are well-
advised to design their policies and procedures to comply with the
FCPA,16 which is widely considered the gold standard for anticorrup-
tion law. While a singular focus on compliance with the FCPA is not
sufficient to account for nation-by-nation variations, no compliance
program would be complete without accounting for the FCPA.

[A] Understanding the Enforcement Environment

[A][1] The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

In 1977, in the aftermath of the Watergate scandal and congres-
sional revelations regarding questionable American business activities
overseas,17 the United States enacted the FCPA to prohibit companies
from paying bribes to foreign political figures or governmental offi-
cials for the purpose of obtaining or maintaining business abroad, and
also to require strict accounting practices for businesses making pay-
ments abroad.18 In the years following its passage, because of its
broad extraterritorial application and severe punishments, the FCPA
emerged as a significant weapon for prosecutors in the United States.
Under the FCPA, American businesses who engage in bribery over-
seas may be liable under the Act, but so too may foreign companies
engaged in corrupt practices within the borders of the United States.
Moreover, businesses can be found vicariously liable for the conduct
of third parties or agents of companies engaged in corrupt behavior.19

16. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1 et seq.
17. See, e.g., STAFF OF SELECT COMM. TO STUDY GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

WITH RESPECT TO INTELLIGENCE ACTIVITIES, COVERT ACTION IN CHILE
1963–1973 (Comm. Print 1975) at Part II.C (“Covert Action and Multi-
national Corporations”), http://fas.org/irp/ops/policy/church-chile.htm
(last visited Oct. 28, 2014).

18. See Bruce Zagaris, INT’L WHITE COLLAR CRIME, 95 (1st ed. 2010).
19. See id. at 111. Indeed, the FCPA expressly prohibits corrupt payments

that are made through third-party agents or intermediaries. 15 U.S.C.
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Under the terms of the statute, a company is at risk of violating the
FCPA where the following four elements are present:

1. A payment is made. Under the FCPA, such payments may be
in cash or kind, including—in addition to the actual payment
of money—promises to pay, gifts or the offer to give anything
of value.20 This latter category has no de minimis exception
and is broadly construed, sweeping in cash, travel upgrades,
vacation trips, scholarships for family members and even the
direction of charitable contributions, among other things.21

An important exception involves so-called “facilitating” pay-
ments, which the FCPA defines as “facilitating or expediting
payment[s] to a foreign official, political party, or party official
the purpose of which is to expedite or to secure the perfor-
mance of a routine governmental action by a foreign official,
political party, or party official,” which in practice can include
payments to obtain permits or licenses to obtain governmen-
tal goods or services such as police protection, utilities, work
visas and mail delivery.22

2. To a foreign official. Recipients of company payments within
the meaning of the FCPA can include foreign officials, political

§ 78dd-1(a). In recent years, the issue of improper payments by third
parties has come to the forefront and has become a focus of enforcement
activity by the federal government. See David Isaak, FCPA Compliance—
Navigating the Minefield of Intermediaries, 17 CURRENTS INT’L TRADE
L.J. 22, 22 (2008); D. Michael Crites, The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
at Thirty-Five: A Practitioner’s Guide, 73 OHIO ST. L.J. 1049, 1066 (2012)
(recognizing the risk that the acts of third parties and their potential
violations pose for FCPA liability for companies).

20. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(a).
21. Increasingly, the federal government has begun targeting promises of

future employment, or employment of the family members or children
of foreign government officials as a basis for liability under the FCPA. See,
e.g., Joe Palazzolo, Christopher M. Matthews & Serena Ng, Nepotism:
When Is It a Crime?, WALL ST. J., Aug. 20, 2013 (noting “[a]n inquiry by
U.S. securities regulators into whether J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. hired the
children of some Chinese officials to win business,” and that the DOJ “has
warned companies since at least the 1980s about hiring practices that
appear to be attempts to curry favor with officials.”). Over the last several
years, the federal government has pursued several companies including
Tyson Foods, Inc. and Daimler AG for alleged improper hiring practices.
Id.

22. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(b). As noted below, however, the recently passed UK
Bribery Act does not contain an exception for “facilitating” payments. In
light of the Bribery Act and other anticorruption law, together with the
difficulties in defining a “facilitating payment,” most companies preclude
any such payments as a matter of conscious policy.
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party candidates, and executives of a state-owned company.23

Also included are third parties if the payor knows that the
payment is directly or indirectly meant for any of the above.24

3. With a corrupt intent. Corrupt intent is defined as an intent:
(a) to “influenc[e] any act or decision of such party, official, or
candidate in its or his official capacity . . . [thereby] inducing
such party, official, or candidate to do or omit to do an act in
violation of the lawful duty” or to “use his influence with a
foreign government or instrumentality thereof to affect or
influence any act or decision of such government or instru-
mentality”; or (b) to “secur[e] any improper advantage.”25

4. For a business purpose. In addition to being made with a
corrupt intent, qualifying payments must also be made for the
purpose of “obtaining or retaining business for or with, or
directing business to any person.”26

Penalties under the FCPA can be significant. Companies found
guilty of violating the FCPA face civil penalties of up to $10,000 and
criminal fines of up to $2 million—though fines may alternatively be
increased to twice the gross financial gain or loss resulting from the
corrupt payment.27 In recent years, FCPA prosecutions have netted
record fines. In December 2008, Siemens AG, a German corporation,
and several of its subsidiaries pleaded guilty to violations of the FCPA

23. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(a)(1)–(2).
24. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(a)(3).
25. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(a)(2)(A). Because the FCPA focuses on intent, there is

no requirement that the corrupt act be consummated or that a foreign
government official actually solicit, accept, or receive the bribe for liabil-
ity to attach to the payor. See, e.g., SEC v. Monsanto Co., No. 05-cv-14
(D.D.C. Jan. 6, 2005) (company paid a bribe of $50,000 to an Indonesian
government official to repeal a law, which was not repealed, notwithstand-
ing the payment of the bribe); see also FCPA Guide, supra note 15.

26. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1(a)(2)(B). Business purpose may be defined broadly, as
in United States v. Kay, 359 F.3d 738, 740 (5th Cir. 2004), where the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit ruled that payments made to reduce
customs duties could qualify under the “obtaining or retaining” of
business. The Fifth Circuit explained that under the FCPA, “Congress
meant to prohibit a range of payments wider than only those that directly
influence the acquisition or retention of government contracts or similar
commercial or industrial arrangements.” Id. at 749. A significant number
of government enforcement actions involve corrupt payments or bribes to
win or keep government contracts. See, e.g., Complaint, SEC v. Siemens
AG Aktiengesellschaft, No. 08-cv-2167 (D.D.C. Dec. 12, 2008), http://
www.sec.gov/litigation/complaints/2008/comp20829.pdf.

27. 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-2(g).
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and agreed to penalties of $1.6 billion with more than $800 million
going to both the U.S. and German governments.28 And while the
enormous Siemens penalties may stand out, there is every reason to
believe that FCPA prosecutions have increased in number and aggres-
siveness.29 Indeed, in 2007, the United States levied FCPA-related
fines of only $87 million, but by 2009 that amount had jumped to
$627 million, and only two months into 2010, such fines totaled $1.2
billion.30

While 2011 and 2012 saw a reduction in the number of enforce-
ment actions filed and in the size of the fines imposed, this may have
been more of a matter of timing than a broader trend. In 2013, there
was a sharp increase in the corporate fines assessed for violations of
the FCPA and there was also an increase in the number of enforcement
actions taken against individuals. In terms of penalties, 2013 saw
penalties of over $720 million against an assortment of corporations
including Weatherford, Diebold, Stryker, Bilfinger, Philips, Parker
Drilling, Total, Ralph Lauren, and Archer Daniels Midland. The fines
imposed ranged from $1.6 million for Ralph Lauren to $398.2 million
for Weatherford.31

28. See Eric Lichtblau & Carter Dougherty, Siemens to Pay $1.34 Billion in
Fines, N.Y. TIMES, Dec. 15, 2008, http://www.nytimes.com/2008/12/16/
business/worldbusiness/16siemens.html?hp; see also U.S. Dep’t of Justice,
Press Release (Dec. 15, 2008), http://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/2008/Decem
ber/08-crm-1105.html.

29. See Thomson Reuters, Anti-Bribery and Corruption: A Special Report,
Aug. 11, 2011 [hereinafter Anti-Bribery and Corruption], at 15
(“[E]nforcement of the law has rocketed in recent years.”); José Tabuena,
Internal Audit’s Role in Preventing FCPA Violations, COMPLIANCE WEEK,
Mar. 2, 2010 [hereinafter Internal Audit’s Role] (“For the fourth time in the
last five years, the Justice Department and the SEC set a record by bringing
more FCPA prosecutions than in any prior year.”).

30. Ken Stier, U.S. Cashes In on Corporate Corruption Overseas, TIME,
Apr. 7, 2010, http://www.time.com/time/business/article/0,8599,1977526,
00.html.

31. On November 26, 2013, the SEC charged Weatherford with violating the
FCPA by authorizing the payment of bribes and improper travel and
entertainment payments to foreign officials in the Middle East and Africa
to win government contracts, and associated books and records violations,
all of which resulted in more than $59 million in profits from improper
payments. See U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, SEC Charges
Weatherford International with FCPA Violations, http://sec.gov/News/Press
Release/Detail/PressRelease/1370540415694#.UzrF6ahdWSo (last visited
Oct. 27, 2014). The SEC also criticized “the nonexistence of internal
controls” at Weatherford which “fostered an environment where employ-
ees across the globe engaged in bribery and failed to maintain accurate
books and records.” Id.
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[A][2] Anticorruption Law Beyond the FCPA

As important as it is, however, the FCPA is not the only anticor-
ruption law with which companies engaged in international busi-
ness must comply. Under the 1997 Anti-Bribery Convention
promulgated by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development (OECD), member countries—including most European
nations as well as Australia, Canada, Japan, Mexico, South Korea and
others—are required to pass laws criminalizing bribery of foreign
public officials.32

In 2010, the United Kingdom passed the Bribery Act,33 which took
effect on July 1, 2011. The Bribery Act has extraterritorial scope
matching or exceeding that of the FCPA, differs from the FCPA in
that it does not exclude “facilitating” payments from liability, and
exposes businesses to potentially unlimited fines.34 Although actual
enforcement of the Bribery Act has only just begun, analysts have
already written that the Bribery Act “takes anti-bribery legislation to a
new level,” that it “is tougher than the US Foreign and Corrupt
Practices Act,” and that it may well constitute “arguably the toughest
regulatory regime applicable in any jurisdiction.”35 Thus, while the
FCPA has long been the gold standard for anticorruption law, compa-
nies doing business abroad must also pay special attention to the
Bribery Act.

In 2012, the Russian Federation ratified the OECD Convention on
Combatting Bribery, which took effect on January 13, 2012. This law
is one part of Russia’s efforts to improve the global perception of the

32. See Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in Int’l
Business Transactions, http://www.oecd.org/daf/anti-bribery/ConvCombat
Bribery_ENG.pdf. The Convention came into force on February 15, 1999,
and, as of September 30, 2011, the following thirty-eight countries have
ratified it: Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada,
Chile, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany,
Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg,
Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia,
Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, South Korea, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey,
United Kingdom and the United States.

33. See Bribery Act, 2010, c.23 (Eng.), http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/
2010/23/contents (last visited Oct. 28, 2014).

34. See F. Joseph Warin, Charles Falconer & Michael S. Diamant, The British
are Coming!: Britain Changes its Law on Foreign Bribery and Joins the
International Fight Against Corruption, 46 TEX. INT’L L.J. 1, 15, 20, 37
(Fall 2010); see also Neil Baker, Top Ten Global Compliance Issues for
2011, COMPLIANCE WEEK (Jan. 4, 2011) (“Just about any business with
connections to the United Kingdom could [be] within the jurisdiction of
the law: British companies, foreign companies that trade on British
exchanges, or anyone who employs a British national.”).

35. Anti-Bribery and Corruption, supra note 29, at 3.
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efficacy of its business climate and to attract additional foreign
investors.36 Along with existing anticorruption legislation, Russian
anticorruption legislation is broader than the FCPA because it also
prohibits commercial bribery. The anticorruption legislation defines
corruption37 as a detriment to the lawful interests of the state and
society arising from: (1) an abuse of power or position of authority by
both public servants and government officials and to corporate offic-
ers; (2) giving a bribe to, or receiving a bribe by a public official or a
foreign official, or a foreign public official; (3) engaging in commer-
cial bribery by corporate officers; or (4) facilitating a bribe. The antic-
orruption legislation establishes criminal liability for violations of
its provisions, allows for the assessment of administrative fines, and
calls for the dismissal of public officials for violations of Russia’s
anticorruption law.

More recently, on August 2, 2013, Brazil enacted the Law to
Combat Corruption, Law No. 12,846/2013. The law became effective
on January 29, 2014 and applies to both foreign companies conduct-
ing business in Brazil and to Brazilian companies, regardless of
corporate form. Unlike the FCPA, the law does not impose corporate
criminal liability, and applies to both foreign and domestic corrup-
tion. In addition, unlike the FCPA, Brazil’s law imposes strict lia-
bility where a violation is committed, and does not require proof of
knowledge or intent, as long as the company benefits from the
corrupt acts.38

Under the Brazilian law, significant judicial and administrative
fines may be imposed. Fines can reach up to 20% of a company ’s
gross annual revenue from the prior year, or if gross revenue is difficult
to calculate, up to 60 million Brazilian reales (roughly $27 million).39

36. See Ivan A. Trifonov and Patrick J. Brooks, SQUIRE SANDERS: QUICK
REFERENCE GUIDE 4: ANTICORRUPTION LAWS OF RUSSIA (Jan. 2012),
http://www.squiresanders.com/files/Publication/ad6eb78c-701d-4402-
9263-499a13b4f995/Presentation/PublicationAttachment/ccf3b180-1f49-
403d-b096-725f606e4e6e/QRG_4_Anticorruption_Russia.pdf (last visited
Oct. 28, 2014).

37. Id. An act of corruption is defined as an act: (1) for the purpose of receiving
a profit in the form of monetary gain, valuables or other property or
services of a proprietary or financial nature (“Pecuniary Gain”) either for
oneself or for third-party beneficiaries, or (2) the illegal provision of such
Pecuniary Gain, whether by a person for his or her own benefit or on behalf
of, or for the benefit of, a third person. Id.

38. Id.
39. Brazil’s New Anti-Corruption Law: Hard to Read, ECONOMIST, Jan. 29,

2014, http://www.economist.com/blogs/schumpeter/2014/01/brazil-s-new-
anti-corruption-law. As of October 28, 2014, the exchange rate was one
USD to 2.4782 Brazilian reales (BRL).
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The Brazilian law also permits courts to dissolve companies in
particularly egregious cases, among a number of available sanctions.40

Unlike the U.K. Bribery Act, but similar to the FCPA, Brazil’s law
does not consider a strong internal compliance program as a statutory
defense but only as a potential mitigating factor.41 Indeed, the fines
and penalties can be reduced by up to two-thirds with a good
compliance program. Brazil’s law does, however, permit authorities
to enter into “leniency agreements” with companies that self-report
violations of the law and cease the unlawful conduct.

[B] Assessing Particularized Risks

[B][1] Countries of Operation

In addition to understanding the enforcement environment, com-
panies should also endeavor to know the risks they face in the various
countries in which they do business. A useful place to begin is with
Transparency International, a non-governmental organization
founded in 1993 that, among other things, publishes the annual
Corruption Perceptions Index, which comparatively assesses corrup-
tion problems in individual countries and ranks them on a scale
from 0 (the worst) to 100 (the best). In 2013, Transparency Interna-
tional ranked Denmark (91), New Zealand (91), Finland (89), and
Sweden (89) as the top four nations, with Afghanistan (8), North Korea
(8) and Somalia (8) as the bottom three—and with the United States
coming in nineteenth of 177 countries with a rating of 73.42 Transpar-
ency International also publishes the Bribe Payers Index, which

40. Id. One of the drawbacks of the Brazilian law is that it entrusts the power
to bring actions to enforce alleged misdemeanors to local authorities,
which may result in more corruption, not less. In addition, the Brazilian
constitution gives each of the country ’s states and municipalities the right
to interpret the law as they see fit. This further threatens the chances of
consistent enforcement. See also Samuel Rubenfeld, The Morning Risk
Report: Brazil’s Anti-Bribery Law Comes into Force, WALL ST. J., Jan. 29,
2014, http://blogs.wsj.com/riskandcompliance/2014/01/29/the-morning-
risk-report-brazils-anti-bribery-law-comes-into-force/ (noting that enforce-
ment under the Brazilian law is decentralized because it “authorizes
enforcement by the highest executive, legislative, or judicial authority
affected by the conduct,” thereby placing companies at risk at all levels of
the government).

41. Id. Article 7 of the law provides that the “existence of internal mecha-
nisms[,] procedures of integrity . . . as well as the effective enforcement of
codes of ethics” will be considered in determining what sanctions, if any,
are appropriate. Other factors that are considered include the seriousness
of the offense, the advantage gained or intended by the wrongdoer, the
degree or risk of damage, and the steps taken by the company to cooperate
with an investigation into its activities.

42. Transparency Int’l, Corruption Perceptions Index 2013, http://www.trans
parency.org/cpi2013/results (last visited Oct. 28, 2014).
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evaluates the likelihood of a company from a given country to attempt
to bribe foreign officials.43

Such resources provide a useful starting place, but companies may
find it worthwhile to obtain expert advice, particularly when entering
into markets of countries with which they are unfamiliar or where
significant changes in the economic, political, legal or social environ-
ment are under way, imminent or likely.

[B][2] Industries

The potential for corrupt practices—and, thus, for prosecution
based upon such practices—exists for all companies doing business
overseas. Even so, recent surveys indicate that certain sectors are at
greater risk than others. At the top of the list are public works
contracts and construction, utilities, oil and gas, and real estate,
property, legal and business services. The least at-risk sectors are
agriculture, light manufacturing, civilian aerospace, information tech-
nology, banking and finance, and forestry.44

Obviously, companies doing business in higher risk sectors must
have heightened awareness of the problem of corruption—but even
companies whose field of industry lies elsewhere should be aware of
these trends when entering into joint ventures or partnerships. Indeed,
the DOJ expects companies to consult the CPI of countries where they
do business and if the CPI is under 50, to perform additional due
diligence on their third parties, agents, and business partners.

[B][3] Third Parties, Agents and Successors

An increasingly critical aspect of risk assessment requires compa-
nies to fully understand the background of individuals or entities that
may act as agents for companies, particularly overseas. Under the
FCPA and U.K. Bribery Act, a company can be held vicariously liable
for acts committed by its agents, so it is more important than ever
for companies to conduct due diligence on the agents and third par-
ties whose services they use or with which they otherwise do busi-
ness. Moreover, as a condition for entering into a principal-agent
relationship, companies should memorialize key anticorruption ele-
ments into such contracts wherever practicable—for instance, by
providing representations and warranties for compliance, audit and
books and records, inspection rights, along with termination rights
should they discover violations of the company ’s anticorruption
policies, and requiring financial oversight or control methods for the

43. See http://www.transparency.org/cpi2011/results (last visited Oct. 28,
2014) (2011 results).

44. Id.
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transfer of payments and other monies. Because of the broad reach of
the FCPA and the Bribery Act, companies must evaluate as fully as
possible those entities that may act on their behalf.

While specific behavior and concerns can and likely will vary
between countries and cultures, when evaluating agents or third
parties, several general issues are worthy of a company ’s considera-
tion. For instance, does the agent resist detailed accounting or prefer
non-traceable instruments for payment, such as cash? How accurate
are the third party ’s accounting methods and documentation? Where
does the agent conduct its banking: in jurisdictions that have open
and relatively transparent banking laws and practices or in jurisdic-
tions where secrecy and opacity are the norm? Likewise, is the third
party ’s ownership and organization secretive or relatively transpar-
ent? What relationship, if any, does an agent have with government
officials who have discretionary authority over the administration or
promulgation of laws and regulations germane to the third party ’s
business? These questions are merely suggestive of the due diligence
that companies seeking to avoid vicarious liability for FCPA viola-
tions should employ. The main point is simple enough: a company
must endeavor to know as fully as possible the third parties and agents
with which it currently does—or is considering doing—business.

Such precautions would be of equal, if not greater, concern where a
company was entering into a more permanent relationship with a
third party, such as a partnership, joint venture or merger. Due
diligence must go beyond traditional transactional evaluation, and
should include assessing a third party ’s record and reputation for
corruption. Indeed, infractions of the FCPA can threaten an acquirer
with successor liability. In an example from 2004, because of an
ongoing U.S. Department of Justice investigation involving alleged
bribery of foreign officials in Saudi Arabia and Benin, Lockheed Martin
Corporation abandoned acquisition of Titan Corporation to avoid
potentially “inherit[ing] legal responsibility for a violation of the
Foreign Corrupt Practice Act.”45

The acquisition of Snamprogetti by Saipem resulted in an even
worse outcome and demonstrates the pitfalls of successor liability and
the need for due diligence.46 Snamprogetti, which was a subsidiary of

45. Renae Merle, Lockheed Martin Scuttles Titan Acquisition, WASH. POST
(June 27, 2004), http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/articles/A8745-
2004Jun26.html (last visited Oct. 28, 2014).

46. Dep’t of Justice, Office of Public Affairs, Snamprogetti Netherlands B.V.
Resolves Foreign Corrupt Practices Act Investigation and Agrees to Pay
$240 Million Criminal Penalty (July 7, 2010), http://www.justice.gov/opa/
pr/2010/July/10-crm-780.html (last visited Oct. 28, 2014).
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ENI, engaged in a pattern of improper payments for a period of ten
years, ending in 2004, involving efforts to bribe Nigerian government
officials. The contracts at issue had a total value of more than $6
billion. In 2006, Snamprogetti was acquired by another company,
Saipem. In 2010, Snamprogetti was targeted for FCPA violations
related to the bribes occurring prior to the acquisition and agreed to
pay a $240 million fine. Both ENI and Saipem were jointly liable for
the fine. In connection with a related civil complaint filed by the SEC,
which claimed anti-bribery, books and records and internal controls
provisions, among other violations of the law, Snamprogetti and ENI
agreed to pay $125 million.47

To avoid the pitfalls of successor liability, due diligence should
extend to determining the jurisdictions in which the potential acquisi-
tion has done business in the previous five years and ascertaining
which anticorruption laws and regulations are applicable to it.48

Likewise, due diligence should also involve interviews with the pro-
spective acquisition’s chief compliance officer (if such exists) or with
whoever is tasked with compliance measures. Full use should be made
of modern resources, including searches of databases containing the
names of persons or entities which have suffered debarment, have a
criminal history or have been reported for unsavory or unethical
business practices. Even if due diligence provides a company with a
degree of comfort, it would still be wise to include representations and
warranties regarding anticorruption compliance within the merger
agreement itself. Comprehensive due diligence also has the added
benefits of allowing the acquiring company to assess the worth of
the intended acquisition, reduces the risk that a company that is
acquired will continue to make improper payments, and “demon-
strates a genuine commitment to uncovering and preventing FCPA
violations.”49

§ 1:2.2 Creating Effective Compliance Policies and
Procedures

Once company executives have satisfied themselves as to the
enforcement environment and the particularized risks they face
abroad, they must create effective compliance policies and procedures.

47. Id.
48. The DOJ and SEC made clear in the FCPA Guide that an acquisition

target not previously subject to the FCPA will not pass liability on to the
acquirer for its past acts. However, once acquired by a company that is
bound by the FCPA, if such violations do not cease, successor liability
may pass to the acquiring entity. FCPA Guide, supra note 15, at 28–30.

49. Id. at 28.
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Such policies should encompass many aspects: training, auditing,
reporting and investigation, among other things. Moreover, as to
each of these aspects, companies must develop a system or structure
that provides for regular updating and improvement, to ensure that the
compliance program is as effective and comprehensive as possible.

The trademarks of an effective compliance program are that it is
“tailored to the company ’s specific business and to the risks associated
with that business” and “promote[s] an organizational culture that
encourages ethical conduct and a commitment to compliance with the
law.”50 The DOJ and SEC have emphasized the importance of effec-
tive compliance programs by considering the adequacy of a company ’s
compliance program in determining what enforcement action to take
and what penalties, if any, to impose.51 While there are no firm guide-
lines regarding what elements an effective compliance must contain,
the SEC and DOJ have made clear that in considering the adequacy
of a compliance program, they look at three primary questions:
(1) whether the program is well designed; (2) whether the program is
being applied by the company in good faith; and (3) whether the pro-
gram functions as intended.52

Perhaps first in this effort should be the articulation of clear
corporate standards, including a code of ethics and a statement of
business principles. Such codes and statements should provide direc-
tion for owners, managers, employees and agents regarding: (a) uni-
versal standards and business behavior to be applied in every country
in which the company operates; (b) the fundamental values under
which the company was founded and dedicated; and (c) clear-cut rules
and prohibitions governing bribery, facilitating payments, antitrust,
entertaining and gift-giving, donations and charity, and conflicts of
interest. In addition, the SEC and DOJ will also consider whether
efforts have been undertaken to keep the code of conduct and related
policies current and effective through periodic reviews and updates.53

Of course, it is not enough to draw up comprehensive policies and
procedures if they are not universally and easily available. Businesses

50. Id. at 56; see also U.S. SENTENCING GUIDELINES, § 8B2.1(a)(2).
51. FCPA Guide, supra note 15, at 56.
52. Id.
53. Id. at 58. The federal government will also consider whether a company

has policies and procedures that define roles and responsibilities for
compliance functions within the company, as well as “detail proper
internal controls, auditing practices, and documentation policies, and set
forth disciplinary procedures.” Id. The extent to which such policies and
procedures should be put in place depends, in part, on the size and nature
of the company involved, as well as the risks associated with the business
that it transacts. Id.
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should therefore make their policies and procedures available online
(by way of a publicly accessible website or intranet reserved for
employees) and also provide a physical copy to every officer, manager,
employee or agent, in each country of operation and written in the
local language.54 Employees should have avenues to direct questions
regarding the policies and procedures, to seek clarification and to
report violations or concerns. Such avenues may include dedicated
telephone lines,55 email addresses and physical depositories, pro-
vided that each is actively monitored and that employees are pro-
tected from harassment or reprisal for making inquiries or advancing
concerns.56 If practicable, companies may find that facilitating anon-
ymous or confidential inquiries or concerns may promote freer and
more constructive dialogue by employees.

We have not provided a generic template for anticorruption poli-
cies and procedures because such a template might suggest that a “one
size fits all” approach would suffice for companies doing business
abroad. It does not. To be effective, each company must tailor its
policies and procedures according to its unique business model and
strategies, company structures, geographic reach, anticipated chal-
lenges and company culture. While all effective policies and proce-
dures must adequately address the enforcement environment, the
ways in which anticorruption compliance policies are structured can
vary significantly.

[A] Leadership, Education and Training
No matter how comprehensive a company ’s policies and procedures

for anticorruption, the ultimate effectiveness of a program depends on
the leadership devoted to the effort and the company ’s success at
educating its workforce and creating the proper culture. Indeed, both
the DOJ and SEC consider “the commitment of corporate leaders to
a culture of compliance” and look to see whether the commitment to

54. Id. at 57.
55. When considering whether to make telephone lines or hotlines available,

companies should consult local laws as hotlines are illegal in some
countries. See Donald C. Dowling, Jr., Global Whistleblower Toolkit:
How to Launch and Operate a Legally-Compliant International Workplace
Report Channel, 45 INT’L LAW. 903, 905–07 (2011) (discussing countries
that are averse to whistleblowing).

56. See Int’l Chamber of Commerce, ICC Guidelines on Whistleblowing at
Part A.2, http://www.iccwbo.org/Advocacy-Codes-and-Rules/Document-
centre/2008/ICC-Guidelines-on-Whistleblowing (last visited Oct. 28,
2014) (“[W]histleblowing, in addition to other instruments, such as people
management and internal and external controls, provides the major source
for detection of fraudulent behavior in enterprises.”).
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compliance is reinforced and implemented at all levels of a business,
including middle management.57

[A][1] Leadership

Traditionally, in-house counsel has provided the day-to-day leader-
ship and guidance on such issues. In recent years, many companies
have found it worthwhile to create a special position specifically
entrusted with overseeing anticorruption compliance programs: a
chief compliance officer. The value here is obvious. A specifically
charged officer not only addresses anticorruption and compliance as
his or her principal function and ensures that the company keeps
such compliance as part of its focus, but also provides expertise and
continuity that can be critical in continually improving the compli-
ance program, recognizing new challenges based upon legal develop-
ments or changing conditions or operations overseas, and also in
serving as evidence to regulators and potential prosecutors how
seriously the company takes corruption and compliance issues. Such
officer should be given “appropriate authority within the organiza-
tion, adequate autonomy from management, and sufficient resources
to ensure that the company ’s compliance program is implemented
effectively.”58

If a company decides to create a chief compliance officer, the next
question is to whom does such officer report? In the past, it had been
typical for a compliance officer to report to the chief executive officer,
general counsel or audit committee, or possibly otherwise based on a
company ’s given internal structure, history or culture. However, the
best modern practice is for the chief compliance officer to report
directly to a company ’s board of directors, or its structural equivalent.
It is critical to have the fullest possible participation of the board in
anticorruption compliance measures, and having the compliance
officer report directly to the board not only facilitates this need, but
also permits the compliance officer a wider range of action and
comfort. In the event that a company finds it necessary or prudent

57. Id. In order to promote this culture, the SEC and DOJ “evaluate whether
senior management has clearly articulated company standards, commu-
nicated them in unambiguous terms, adhered to them scrupulously, and
disseminated them throughout the organization.” Id.

58. FCPA Guide, supra note 15, at 58; see also U.S. Sentencing Guidelines
§ 8B2.1(2)(B)–(C) (2011). The SEC and DOJ, however, do recognize that
the reporting structure within a company will depend on the size, com-
plexity and business realities of a company. Id. Internal controls must be
reasonable and the SEC and DOJ will consider “whether the company
devoted adequate staffing and resources to the compliance program given
the size, structure, and risk profile of the business.” Id.
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to have its various subsidiaries each employ a compliance officer, the
overall hierarchy should ensure not only that coordination and con-
sistency be maintained across the company, but also that the board of
directors remains at the top and fully apprised of compliance controls
and issues throughout the company.

Regardless of whether a company decides to place principal respon-
sibility in a chief compliance officer or follows the earlier approach of
leaving those responsibilities to in-house counsel, an effective com-
pliance program requires deeper roots. Indeed, it is critical that other
divisions of the company share responsibilities for compliance, and of
particular importance are divisions tasked with actually performing
business functions. While not necessarily a comprehensive list, and
allowing for variation based upon companies’ internal structure, the
following, in conjunction with the legal department, should share
some degree of responsibility for compliance: the board of directors,
chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer,
internal audit, accounting and financial controls, human resources,
risk management personnel, tax personnel, and communication and
public/governmental relations personnel. For such responsibilities to
be effective, they must be integrated into actual business functions,
and the leaders of the various divisions must be intensively trained in
anticorruption compliance policies and practices. If compliance is
merely “tacked on” to business functions, a program is far less likely
to be effective.

With this in mind, one final observation bears further emphasis.
When it comes to anticorruption and compliance, the “tone at the
top,”59 sends a strong signal to employees throughout the company—
as well as to regulators and prosecutors. Thus, a company ’s board of
directors, or structural equivalent, must be entrusted with substantial
control and responsibility for a compliance program. For instance, the
board should ensure that the chief compliance officer (or its equiva-
lent) has adequate resources, appropriate company-wide authority
and unfettered access to board members. The compliance officer
should be required to submit company-wide compliance reports to
the board on at least a semi-annual basis. Finally, the board itself
should regularly address compliance measures in its meetings, at a
minimum annually. All of these measures ensure that the board
receives direct and up-to-date information regarding the company ’s
anticorruption compliance program, unfiltered by senior manage-
ment such as members of the so-called “C-suite” (chief executive
officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer). Such leadership
“at the top” provides a critical cornerstone to any compliance program.

59. Anti-Bribery and Corruption, supra note 29, at 18.
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[A][2] Communications and Training

Communications and training is the next essential element of an
effective compliance program. Communications regarding the com-
pany ’s anticorruption policies should be clear, concise and written so
as to be accessible to their intended audience. Plain language should
be used, and jargon and legalese should be avoided. Where a company
has overseas operations and employs speakers of different languages,
it is critical that anticorruption materials be correctly rendered and
made available in each operative language. The inclusion of examples
and hypotheticals is often helpful for conveying both the letter and
spirit of the policy to employees, as can be the promulgation of a
specific “dos and don’ts” list. Such additions can be especially
important in the international context, where different cultures may
view abstract anticorruption concepts differently—by providing con-
crete examples, the company helps reduce cultural misunderstanding
and ensures consistent behavior across national and linguistic
boundaries.

Communications regarding the company ’s anticorruption policies
should be made across multiple media: print, electronic and in-person
presentations or training sessions. It should also be repeated, consist-
ently stating the key aspects of the company ’s policy. Such a commu-
nication strategy ensures that the company ’s anticorruption policy
reaches all employees, has the maximum effect, and impresses upon
the audience the importance of the subject matter.

Training is a more intensive means of communicating the com-
pany ’s compliance program. It may take many forms, and frequently
will, depending on the structure of the company and any overseas
operations it may have. Training can come in the form of in-person
presentations, role-playing simulations, compliance handbooks, tele-
conferences, webinars, email blasts and certification programs. Train-
ing can be generalized to the company ’s overall compliance program,
and it can also be specific to certain aspects of that program, which,
based upon risk assessment, are particularly important for a given
company, industry or country of operation. Explicit training regarding
a company ’s policies toward public sector contracts is an obvious area
for special emphasis, since government contracts present a greater
risk that bribery or corruption could be involved. Other specific topics
may warrant individualized, anticorruption training, such as sales
commissions, agent relationships, transactions involving taxes, cus-
toms duties, licensing, permitting and inspections, payments for
travel, gifts and charitable donations, and transactions or operations
in countries ranked low on Transparency International’s Corruption
Perceptions Index.
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The DOJ and SEC will consider the extent to which policies and
procedures have been communicated throughout the entire organiza-
tion “including through periodic training and certification for all
directors, officers, relevant employees, and, where appropriate, agents
and business partners.”60

[B] Monitoring, Investigation and Discipline
No compliance program would be complete in the absence of

established means to monitor compliance, investigate allegations or
suspicions of noncompliance, and discipline or sanction employees
who have violated company policies or otherwise engaged in corrupt
activities. Enforcement of a compliance program is critical to its suc-
cess and both the DOJ and SEC will consider, “whether, when
enforcing a compliance program, a company has appropriate and
clear disciplinary procedures, whether those procedures are applied
reliably and promptly, and whether they are commensurate with
the violation.”61

[B][1] Monitoring

To internally assess strengths, weaknesses and areas for improve-
ment, companies must monitor compliance with policies and proce-
dures. Only through such an effort can a company ascertain how
successful its compliance program is, as well as what issues remain
to be addressed, thereby permitting the company to allocate suffi-
cient resources on a prioritized basis.

Such monitoring is predicated upon a structure of internal controls,
key among which are: (1) ready channels for reporting issues and
transmitting data; (2) clear lines of hierarchy and accountability; and
(3) procedures governing accounting and financial reporting, particu-
larly as to corporate payments and the disposition of assets. Just as the
policies and procedures must be memorialized and accessible in
written form, so too should be the procedures for monitoring and
reporting on compliance with them. Not only do such documents
provide the means for consistent, company-wide monitoring, but they
also provide an evidentiary basis for demonstrating the adequacy of
the compliance program, should such be required by a government
or regulatory entity.62 Equally essential for monitoring are structures

60. FCPA Guide, supra note 15, at 59.
61. Id.
62. See Christopher J. Steskal, The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act: The Next

Corporate Scandal?, SEC. LITIG. ALERT (Jan. 28, 2008) at 5, http://www.
fenwick.com/publications/Pages/Securities-Litigation-Alert-The-Foreign-
Corrupt-Practices-Act-The-Next-Corporate-Scandal.aspx (last visited
Oct. 28, 2014).
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and policies to promote confidential whistleblowing, a telephone line
where questions can be asked or potential violations reported, and a
freestanding special audit/investigation team, or the policies in place
to create such a team as warranted.

Another useful tool is auditing, both audits that are conducted
regularly and those conducted on an impromptu or unannounced
basis. Such audits should examine compliance with company policies
and procedures, as well as governing law and regulations. Auditing
is particularly important in evaluating the behavior and activity of
agents and third parties of a company, and an experienced audit team
can help quickly identify high-risk transactions or unusual payments.
To do so, auditors must be familiar with “small-scale schemes (lavish
travel and entertainment expenses, favors for family members, pre-
paid bank cards, credit card advances, gifts and so forth) as well as
those on a larger scale (third-party foreign payers including consult-
ants and agents, charitable or political contributions, distributors
and resellers).”63 An effective auditing program serves as an essential
tool for anticorruption compliance.

[B][2] Investigations

When suspicions or allegations arise as to corrupt behavior by
employees, agents or third parties, the company must have established
procedures for conducting investigations. The ability to investigate
effectively serves several broad purposes. First, particularly where mere
suspicions are concerned, it can serve as an effective means to head
off problems before any develop or to deal with existing problems
before they worsen. Second, it can be used to evaluate the company ’s
relationship with agents and third parties, particularly those operating
abroad. Third, policies governing investigations can serve as crucial
evidence in favor of a company should actual charges be brought
against it. An established regime for investigation can send a strong
signal to potential prosecutors regarding the seriousness with which
the company treats allegations of corrupt behavior.

While companies should have an established mechanism to under-
take investigations, such mechanisms can be purposefully designed to
account for varying circumstances. In some cases, for instance, it may
be reasonable for investigators internal to the company to undertake
certain investigations, but companies increasingly find it worthwhile
to have outside counsel conduct the investigation. Such an approach
generally increases the objectivity with which the investigation is
undertaken, and it sends a further signal to regulators or prosecutors
that the company has taken seriously suspicions of impropriety and

63. Internal Audit’s Role, supra note 29.
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acted accordingly. After all, outside counsel often have more experi-
ence in conducting company investigations than do in-house counsel,
internal auditors or other company personnel. In addition, by employ-
ing outside counsel, companies gain confidentiality and attorney-
client privileges along with these other benefits. Should a company
decide not to employ outside counsel to manage an investigation, at
a bare minimum it should have in-house counsel at the helm of the
investigation, with investigators taking their direction from and
reporting their results to in-house counsel. Counsel may then see fit
to employ outside counsel and other consultants to provide ongoing
counseling and quality control.

Regardless of who is ultimately best to undertake a given investiga-
tion, several general points ought to be kept in mind:

First, from the outset, the company should determine the ultimate
purpose of a given investigation and then structure the investigation
so that it is capable of meeting its objectives.

Second, whether conducted by inside or outside counsel, inves-
tigators must report to and ultimately be directed by a member of
the company, and the selection of such person can be extremely
important. Where highly technical matters are at issue, it may be
helpful for the director to possess sufficient knowledge of such mat-
ters, but, at a minimum, the director should be senior to any person
suspected or implicated in the allegations of wrongdoing. The best
general practice is for an investigator to report to the board of direc-
tors, in conjunction with participation by the chief compliance
officer whenever possible.

Third, if a government entity is involved in some manner, compa-
nies should acquire local counsel in each relevant foreign jurisdiction.
And if multiple jurisdictions are at issue, a centralized team may be
necessary to coordinate the efforts of investigators and counsel alike.

Fourth, the investigative team must have the means to gather
and analyze data. Policies should be structured to permit ready access
to company-held data so that investigators are not left with blind
spots. Data analysis, moreover, may require the employment of
experts, such as accountants, economists, industry specialists or
computer professionals.

Fifth, an investigation must be structured from the very beginning
for periodic review and recalibration. Both internal factors (such as
data recovery and analysis) and external factors (such as the activities
of regulatory agencies or law-enforcement bodies) can and often do
require investigations to change over time, even if the central purpose
of the investigation remains unchanged.

Sixth and finally, if regulatory agencies or law-enforcement bodies
are involved, an investigation should make it a priority to maintain
open lines of communication and active dialogue. When appropriate,
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findings and progress can be communicated to these government
entities, but these entities can themselves be a useful resource for
investigators, providing insights, information or perspectives that
might not otherwise be available.

[B][3] Discipline and Sanctions

When wrongdoing has been uncovered, a company must address it
quickly and with a response that is appropriate given the circum-
stances. While the actual sanctions administered should be tailored
to the circumstances, it is essential in every case that the penalty
for failing to comply with the law or with company policies regarding
corruption must be of a serious nature. Sanctions should be propor-
tionate, but, at a minimum, punishment for violations must be
universal. Noncompliance must be dealt with—without exception.
Not only do outside entities, such as regulatory bodies and law
enforcement agencies, expect serious punishment for violations, but
appropriately punitive sanctions also send the message to employees,
agents, third parties and prospective business partners that the com-
pany takes its anticorruption effort seriously and that corrupt busi-
ness practices will not be tolerated.

Indeed, it is for this reason that companies should establish as part
of their policies and procedures a mechanism for handling discipline
and clear instructions as to the penalties potentially faced: dismissal,
prosecution, restitution and so forth. The advantages of an established
procedure over ad hoc methods to deal with incidents as they arise are
clear.

In addition to discipline and sanctions, companies should also
consider implementing positive incentives to reward and entice com-
pliant behavior.64 Incentives can take a number of forms including
personnel evaluations, promotions, and bonuses.65

§ 1:3 Conclusion

The increasingly globalized nature of business in the 21st century
ensures that more and more companies will do business across
national boundaries, and that, in fact, many companies will find
themselves with physical operations in numerous countries. To re-
spond to the increasingly global nature of business, over the past
thirty-plus years, anticorruption laws have expanded tremendously,
both in terms of the number of jurisdictions employing them, the
cooperation among multiple jurisdictions, as well as the aggressive-
ness of prosecutors in rooting out illicit business activities. All signs

64. Id. at 60.
65. Id.
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suggest that these trends will continue to grow in tandem in the
coming decades, and companies must therefore create and maintain
effective anticorruption compliance programs as a core feature of their
business strategies.

There is no denying that such an effort entails a significant
commitment of a company ’s time, money and resources, both when
initially crafting a compliance program and then for ongoing monitor-
ing, training and improvement. However, should a company doing
business overseas run afoul of the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act, or other
anticorruption measures, the resulting cost could be enormous, and
may not be limited to the significant legal fees required to defend
against prosecution66 or the substantial penalties or settlement costs
facing the company. The company ’s reputation and brands—both
domestically and internationally—could suffer tremendously, under-
cutting hard-earned advantages and potentially making it difficult to
maintain or expand the company ’s presence in new or existing foreign
markets. Moreover, on the heels of such a setback, the board of
directors and corporate officers could also find themselves on the
receiving end of a costly shareholders derivative suit.

Given the size and nature of the threat, investment in an effective
anticorruption compliance program is well worth a company ’s time
and effort, is an essential part of its overall business strategy, and
in some cases, like the U.K. Bribery Act, the only defense to strict
liability for corporate anti-bribery violations.

§ 1:3.1 Key Takeaways

• Become familiar with the risks the company faces in all the
countries in which it does business. It is critical in this regard
to understand the risks and requirements presented by the
FCPA and U.K. Bribery Act. One recommended resource is
found at Transparency International. Also obtain expert advice
for unfamiliar markets and countries, and stay on top of sig-
nificant economic, political, legal or social changes, to antici-
pate pressures and dangers related to corrupt practices.

• Because a company can be held liable for acts committed by its
agents and/or third parties, conduct due diligence on those who
provide services or with whom the company conducts business.

66. In one example, an industrial services company based in Texas spent $3.2
million on an FCPA investigation into alleged bribes paid by its operation
in Trinidad—“more than six times the $50,000 in alleged bribes in
question.” Melissa Klein Aguilar, How to Size Up, and Manage, FCPA
Investigation Costs, COMPLIANCE WEEK (Aug. 17, 2010), http://www.com-
plianceweek.com/news/news-bulletin/how-to-size-up-and-manage-fcpa-
investigation-costs (last visited Oct. 28, 2014).

§ 1:3.1Design, Implementation, and Operation
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As a key tactic, include anticorruption elements in contracts
whenever possible.

• Conduct intensive research and due diligence into the jurisdic-
tions where potential acquisitions have previously done busi-
ness for at least the last five years. Successor liability makes it
wise to research which anticorruption laws and regulations are
applicable to that area and business transaction or relationship.
This means investigating and interviewing management per-
sonnel, sales and marketing personnel, and examining the
entity ’s financial records. Also, include in the merger agreement
representations and warranties regarding anticorruption com-
pliance, indemnity provisions and conduct post-closing dili-
gence where pre-closing diligence opportunities may have
been limited.

• Include aspects of training, auditing, reporting and investiga-
tion in the compliance program, and make provisions for con-
tinuous updating and improvement.

• State the corporate standards clearly in the compliance policy,
and ensure that it includes a code of ethics and a statement of
business principles. These should cover: (1) universal standards
and business behavior to be applied in every country in which
the company operates; (2) the fundamental values under which
the company was founded and dedicated; and (3) clear-cut rules
and prohibitions governing bribery, facilitating payments, anti-
trust, entertaining and gift-giving, political contributions, dona-
tions and charity and conflicts of interest, among other issues.

§ 1:3.1 GLOBAL BUSINESS FRAUD AND THE LAW
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